STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JUSTIN ANTONIO BUTLER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001269

RECEIVED

FEB 12 2018

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SC Court of Appeals

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial judge err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence obtained through defective search warrants that failed to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 because the warrants were issued by a South Carolina magistrate who did not have jurisdiction over the area where the property sought was located, namely telephone records stored out of state, and were served on out of state entities?

2.

Did the trial judge err by qualifying a state law enforcement witness as an expert in "street culture and language" and permitting him to testify concerning his extensive experience with street gangs and his interpretation of language allegedly used by Appellant because this evidence was unfairly prejudicial to Appellant in violation of Rule 403, SCRE, and suggested to the jury that Appellant was affiliated with or involved in a gang, which likely led the jury to convict Appellant on an improper basis, particularly where Appellant was convicted under the hand of one theory of accomplice liability?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on June 1, 2015 for murder, attempted murder, first degree burglary, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. R. 698. His case was called to trial on June 6, 2016 before the Honorable R. Knox McMahan, and a jury. R. 1. Deputy Solicitor D. Shawn Graham and Assistant Solicitor Robert E. McNair, III represented the state, and James R. Snell and Johnson M. Snell represented Appellant. R. 1.

On June 9, 2016, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 589, l. 18 – 590, l. 18. He was sentenced by Judge McMahan to fifty years' imprisonment for murder, thirty years concurrent for both attempted murder and first degree burglary, and five years consecutive for the weapons offense. R. 599, l. 17 – 600, l. 11.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant met VonKeith Toland through Alonzo Walker, a mutual friend. R. 420, ll. 1-23. VonKeith, who lived in Pelion, South Carolina, sold used cars. R. 106, ll. 11-20. Appellant knew Walker had purchased several cars from VonKeith before. Impressed with the quality of the vehicles Walker had purchased, Appellant was also interested in buying a car from VonKeith. Appellant met VonKeith on three occasions between December 2013 and April 2014 to look at cars VonKeith had for sale. R. 420, l. 24 – 422, l. 14; R. 107, l. 20 – 109, l. 19. These meetings were always when Appellant, who lived in Alabama, was in South Carolina to perform a show. R. 418, l. 24 – 419, l. 3. He was an artist, songwriter, and producer. R. 418, ll. 10-15.

On April 24, 2014, Appellant traveled to Greenwood, South Carolina to perform two shows with Terry McClure. R. 422, l. 15 – 423, l. 5. Appellant met McClure, who lives in California, in Atlanta, and the two rented a car and drove to Greenwood. R. 425, l. 21 – 426, l. 2. While he was in town, Appellant arranged to meet VonKeith to look at and possibly buy an Infiniti M45. R. 111, ll. 11-12; R. 426, ll. 5-17.

On April 26, 2014, Appellant and McClure met VonKeith at his mother's house in North. R. 426, ll. 20-23. VonKeith was familiar with McClure because McClure had accompanied Appellant a few months before when Appellant met VonKeith to look at a BMW. R. 112, l. 15 – 113, l. 1. Appellant and McClure followed VonKeith and his brother, Tycus Toland, from their mother's house to VonKeith's mobile home in Pelion, where the Infiniti was located. R. 429, l. 11 – 431, l. 16; R. 120, ll. 15-21. Once there, Appellant inspected the vehicle and then test drove the car. McClure and VonKeith rode with him while he drove the car. Tycus Toland stayed behind. R. 434, l. 9 – 435, l. 18; R. 120, l. 22 – 121, l. 18.

Appellant and VonKeith's account of what occurred after the men returned differed. Appellant testified that after they returned from test driving the vehicle, the men got out and were all standing around the car. R. 437, ll. 3-10. Appellant walked to his rental car to plug in his phone because it had a low battery and he wanted to use the phone to determine how many miles the car averaged per year and approximately how much it was worth before making an offer. R. 437, l. 10 – 438, l. 18. While he was sitting in the rental car, he heard a gunshot. R. 439, l. 19 – 441, l. 20. When he looked up, he saw VonKeith running from the side of the house toward McClure who was still standing in the front yard near the Infiniti. Appellant did not see any shots fired, but he heard several more gunshots. R. 441, l. 21 – 442, l. 19. He heard a total of four to five gunshots. R. 446, ll. 20-22. He never saw Tycus Toland and did not know where he was located. R. 442, ll. 20-22.

Appellant "took cover" in the car. R. 445, ll. 11-19. He saw McClure and VonKeith run behind the house. R. 445, l. 20 – 446, l. 14. Appellant tried to start the car, but he realized that McClure had the keys. R. 445, ll. 11-19. After about two to three minutes, McClure returned to the car and the men left. R. 445, l. 15 – 447, l. 10. He did not ask McClure what happened and McClure did not tell him. R. 450, ll. 12-18.

Appellant testified that he never entered VonKeith's house. He also denied shooting VonKeith or Tycus Toland. R. 448, l. 19 – 449, l. 12.

VonKeith testified that when they returned from test driving the car, all four men were standing around the Infiniti. Appellant appeared to be inspecting the car and was looking under the hood. VonKeith claimed that all of a sudden, McClure "reached on his side and instantly" shot Tycus in the back of the head. R. 123, ll. 8-16. He said, "It was unexpected" and happened "so fast" Tycus "couldn't even use his hands to knock it [the gun] down." R. 123, ll. 17-20.

VonKeith admitted Appellant looked surprised by the shooting. R. 147, l. 19 – 149, l. 10. After McClure shot Tycus, VonKeith claimed Appellant ran to his car and appeared to be looking for something. McClure then pointed the gun at VonKeith and said, “[Y]ou know what this is, you know what we coming for, we want it, you might as well give it up . . . I know you got money; you might as well get it out.” R. 125, l. 9 – 126, l. 3. VonKeith began backing away from McClure and tried to run. McClure shot him three times near the back of the house as he was fleeing. VonKeith fell to the ground and was “crawling still trying to get away.” He claimed while he was on the ground, Appellant put a gun in his face and asked him “where the drugs and the money are at.” McClure also had a gun pointed on VonKeith and threatened to kill him. R. 126, l. 10 – 129, l. 3.

VonKeith claimed he told the men there was money inside the house. McClure then kicked the back sliding glass door in and the men went inside the house. He could hear them “scrambling in the house tearing it up like, just looking for stuff.” According to VonKeith, McClure came back outside while VonKeith was trying to dial 911. McClure said, “Oh, you got a phone” and shot him again three or four times. When McClure took the phone from VonKeith’s hand, VonKeith said he “just let [his] hand drop” and “laid there like [he] was dead.” McClure went back into the house. VonKeith crawled under the house while the men were inside. When they finally came back outside, Appellant said “where he at, where he at.” McClure said, “I don’t know” and the men ran back to their car and “sped off.” R. 129, l. 3 – 131, l. 19.

VonKeith testified that he waited a few minutes and then crawled to his car and found a phone. He called 911. He told the operator that the suspects were associated with “Zo from California.” R. 131, l. 21 – 133, l. 7. He was ultimately transported to the hospital where he

remained in a coma for at least ten days. Once he awoke, he identified both Appellant and McClure from photographic lineups as the men involved in the burglary and shooting. R. 85, l. 8 – 87, l. 11; R. 141, l. 3 – 143, l. 13; R. 206, l. 4 – 208, l. 22. Tycus Toland died at the scene from his injuries. R. 376, l. 21 – 380, l. 2.

During its investigation, law enforcement obtained search warrants for various telephone records associated VonKeith Toland, Tycus Toland, Terry McClure, Appellant, and other unknown individuals. It was through these telephone records that investigators were able to identify Appellant and McClure as suspects. Portions of these records, including the content of text messages exchanged between Appellant and McClure, were admitted into evidence over Appellant's objection.

The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty of murder, attempted murder, first degree burglary, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. R. 589, l. 18 – 590, l. 18.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence obtained through defective search warrants that failed to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 because the warrants were issued by a South Carolina magistrate who did not have jurisdiction over the area where the property sought was located, namely telephone records stored out of state, and were served on out of state entities.

How the Issue was Presented Below

Appellant moved pretrial to suppress all evidence obtained through the use of search warrants issued by a local South Carolina magistrate who did not have jurisdiction over the area where the property sought was located as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140. R. 4, l. 6 – 5, l. 4. These search warrants, fourteen in all, were for telephone records for Appellant, Terry McClure, VonKeith Toland, Tycus Toland, and other unidentified individuals whose telephone records were relevant to the investigation. See Court's Exhibit No. 1. These warrants were marked together as Court's Exhibit No. 1. The warrants were faxed by investigators with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department to the relevant subpoena compliance and records centers for Sprint in Overland Park, Kansas, Verizon Wireless in San Angelo, Texas, Verizon Wireless in Bedminster, New Jersey, T-Mobile in Parsippany, New Jersey, Cingular in West Palm Beach, Florida, AT&T in West Palm Beach, Florida, and MetroPCS Wireless in Richardson, Texas. See Court's Exhibit No. 1.

Counsel for Appellant argued that the search warrants included in Court's Exhibit No. 1 were invalid because they “were issued by a judge [who] does not have jurisdiction over the area [where] these documents and records and other materials were [located]. The warrants all

indicate on the[ir] face that they were being sent out of state, outside of the jurisdiction of the magistrate or of this court and there is no exception in the enabling statute or any other provision of South Carolina Law providing for . . . the validity of an out of state - - of a search warrant issued out of state.” R. 4, l. 20 – 5, l. 4. Because the search warrants, which were issued by a local magistrate, sought to obtain records stored out of state from out of state entities, counsel asserted the warrants were invalid “on their face.” R. 5, ll. 5-13.

The assistant solicitor claimed in response that Appellant had no expectation of privacy in any of the telephone records in order to challenge the various searches. His argument was based solely on the Fourth Amendment. In support of his argument that Appellant had no expectation of privacy in the records from two telephone numbers associated with Appellant, the solicitor cited Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735 (1979), which “states that an individual enjoys no Fourth Amendment protection of information he voluntarily turns over to a third party.” He further argued Appellant had no expectation of privacy in telephone records associated with other individuals. R. 7, l. 4 – 10, l. 12.

After the solicitor’s argument, counsel for Appellant made clear that he was not arguing under the Fourth Amendment or pursuant to any right to privacy, instead his argument was that the search warrants had “no legal validity” because they were issued by a local magistrate who did not have jurisdiction over the area where the property sought was located as required by § 17-13-140. R. 10, l. 24 – 11, l. 8.

Court’s Ruling

Finding no precedent in South Carolina, the trial judge denied Appellant’s motion to suppress based on an unpublished opinion from the Michigan Court of Appeals: People v. Wilson, 2013 WL 2360239 (Mich. Ct. App. 2013). In Wilson, the defendant argued his attorney

was ineffective for not moving to suppress telephone records which were obtained pursuant to two search warrants issued by a Michigan magistrate but served on a telephone provider in Texas. Id. The defendant argued the records should have been suppressed *under the Fourth Amendment* because the magistrate who issued the two search warrants lacked jurisdiction to issue warrants pertaining to an out of state party. Id. The Michigan Court of Appeals found the warrants were valid because even though they were served out of state, they solely concerned electronic communications that occurred within Michigan, not Texas. Id.

After summarizing Wilson, the trial judge denied the motion to suppress based on its holding. He also ruled Appellant had no expectation of privacy to challenge the searches. R. 16, ll. 11-17.

Discussion

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution require warrants be issued only “upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.” U.S. Const. Amend. IV; S.C. Const. Art. 1, § 10. “This is a minimum standard, and state legislatures are free to enact stricter requirements for the issuance of search warrants.” State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 113, 352 S.E.2d 471, 472 (1987) (citing State v. York, 250 S.C. 30, 156 S.E.2d 326 (1967)).

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 is the “general search warrant statute” in South Carolina. State v. Covert, 382 S.C. 205, 209, 675 S.E.2d 70, 743 (2009). This statute contains requirements different from those mandated by the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution, and is in some ways stricter than the federal and state constitutions. Covert, 382 S.C. at 209, 675 S.E.2d at 743 (citing McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 352

S.E.2d 471). Consequently, a search warrant that would survive constitutional scrutiny may still be defective under § 17-13-140. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.E.2d 471.

The South Carolina General Assembly enacted a requirement that search warrants may only be issued by a magistrate “having jurisdiction over the area where the property sought is located.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140. The statute states in relevant part:

Any magistrate or recorder or city judge having the powers of magistrates, or any judge of any court of record of the State **having jurisdiction over the area where the property sought is located**, may issue a search warrant . . .

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (emphasis added).

As argued below, the magistrate who issued the various search warrants in this case for telephone records associated with Appellant, Terry McClure, VonKeith Toland, Tycus Toland, and other unnamed individuals did not have jurisdiction over the area where the telephone records were located and stored. Consequently, the search warrants were defective because they failed to comply with § 17-13-140. This defect was apparent from the face of the warrants. The evidence obtained as a result of these invalid warrants should have been suppressed by the trial judge.

Our Supreme Court has previously held search warrants were defective for failing to comply with this statute and suppressed the evidence obtained as a result of the invalid warrants.

In McKnight, police officers appeared before a magistrate to obtain a warrant, but did not complete an affidavit in support thereof. Our Supreme Court held the warrant was defective because the officers failed to comply with the affidavit requirement of § 17-13-140. McKnight, 291 S.C. at 113, 352 S.E.2d at 473; See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (requiring search warrants be issued “only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate . . . establishing the grounds for the warrant.”). Even though the officers were sworn and gave oral testimony to the magistrate, the

Court held a search warrant affidavit which is itself insufficient to establish probable cause may be supplemented before the magistrate by sworn oral testimony, but sworn oral testimony alone does not satisfy the statute. McKnight, 291 S.C. at 113, 352 S.E.2d at 473. The Court found the mandatory requirement of an affidavit lacking, thereby requiring suppression. Id. at 113-114, 352 S.E.2d at 473.

In Covert, law enforcement officers obtained and served a search warrant on September 26, 2002. The warrant was signed by the magistrate and dated September 28, 2002. However, the accompanying two page affidavit was signed by the magistrate on both pages and both signatures were dated September 26, 2002. Covert, 382 S.C. at 207, 675 S.E.2d at 741. Our Supreme Court held the warrant was invalid due to the absence of the magistrate's signature at the time the warrant was served. Id. at 208, 675 S.E.2d at 742. The Court concluded that under South Carolina law an unsigned warrant is not a warrant, and is not capable of being issued within the meaning of § 17-13-140. Id. at 210, 675 S.E.2d at 743.

In Herring, a SLED agent faxed a search warrant to a magistrate and the magistrate swore the agent over the telephone. State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 692 S.E.2d 490 (2009). Based on the language of § 17-13-140 that commands a warrant "be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate," Herring argued the warrant was invalid because the statute requires the affiant appear before the magistrate *in person*. Our Supreme Court disagreed. The Court held the language does not state an affidavit must be sworn in person. It only requires the affidavit be sworn. Emphasizing that the agent who prepared the warrant was sworn over the telephone by the magistrate, the Court held this procedure complied with the literal terms of the statute and there was no defect in the warrant. Id.

Like in McKnight and Covert, this Court should hold the search warrants in this case marked together as Court's Exhibit No. 1 were invalid because the South Carolina magistrate who issued the warrants did not have jurisdiction over the area where the property sought was located as required by § 17-13-140. Again, the police sought telephone records stored out of state by out of state entities. The warrants were faxed to these out of state entities by investigators with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department. The South Carolina magistrate did not have jurisdiction in Texas, Florida, New Jersey, and Kansas where these various records were located. Consequently, the warrants were defective for failing to comply with the jurisdictional requirement of § 17-13-140 and the evidence obtained should have been suppressed. See McKnight, 291 S.C. at 113, 352 S.E.2d at 473 (When . . . the State is unable to demonstrate a good faith attempt to comply with the statute [§ 17-13-140], exclusion is the proper remedy.”).

Standing

The trial judge's finding that Appellant did not have an expectation of privacy in the telephone records or standing to challenge the search warrants marked as Court's Exhibit No. 1 was error.

“The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees to individuals the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. One who seeks to have evidence suppressed on this basis must establish that his *own* Fourth Amendment rights were violated.” McKnight, 291 S.C. at 114, 352 S.E.2d at 473 (citing United States v. Salvucci, 448 U.S. 83 (1980)) (emphasis in original). “The defendant who seeks to suppress evidence on Fourth Amendment grounds must demonstrate a legitimate expectation of privacy in connection with the searched premises in order to have standing to challenge the search.” Id. (citing United

States v. Salvucci, 448 U.S. 83 (1980), Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448 U.S. 98 (1980, and Combs v. United States, 408 U.S. 224 (1972)).

“On the other hand, the rights afforded by Section 17-13-140 are not dependent upon a showing of an expectation of privacy in the searched premises.” Id. at 115, 352 S.E.2d at 474. “Therefore, one contesting the legality of a search because of a defect under Section 17-13-140 need only show that the State is attempting to introduce the evidence against him.” Id.

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