**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

Appeal from Lexington County  
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED  
2016 MAR 10 AM 10:13  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

v.

**JUSTIN ANTONIO BUTLER,**

**Appellant.**

Appellate Case No. 2016-001269

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 101477  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

SAMUEL R. HUBBARD, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

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

#### Harmless Error

Any possible error in admitting the cell phone records was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as other evidence conclusively established appellant's guilt. Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985); *see also State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 55-56, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223-24 (2006) (employing a harmless error analysis in the case of a defective search warrant). No definite rule of law governs the finding of harmless error; rather, the error's materiality and prejudicial character must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. *Mitchell*, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151; *see also State v. Mizzell*, 349 S.C. 326, 333, 563 S.E.2d 315, 318-19 (2002) (listing the factors of a harmless error analysis, including the importance of the witness's testimony, whether the testimony was cumulative, the extent of cross-examination, and the overall strength of the State's case) (citation omitted).

The records were cumulative to other evidence that established appellant's presence in South Carolina and at the scene of the deadly shooting, including appellant's own testimony. Vonkeith Toland (Vonkeith) confirmed to investigators and during trial appellant contacted him using the area code "404" number before and after appellant arrived in South Carolina. (R.pp.139-141). Vonkeith testified he sent his address to appellant via text. (R.pp.116-17).

Without objection, screenshots of Vonkeith's cell phone were admitted into evidence which showed calls and texts with appellant. (R.p.139).

Vonkeith further testified appellant and his co-defendant were at his mother's house, and then went to his home to look at a car. (R.p.112; pp.115-16). Vonkeith also told the jury about his memory of the day of his brother's murder and being shot himself, and about appellant and his co-defendant threatening to kill him and ransacking his home. (R.pp.126-31). Vonkeith identified appellant in a photo lineup prior to trial and again in the courtroom, and testified he was "[a] hundred percent" certain he recognized appellant as one of the two men involved in the incident. (R.p.141, line 3-p.143, line 18).

In addition, Vonkeith's family members also recognized appellant and could identify him. A cousin saw appellant and his co-defendant on the day of the murder and identified appellant in a photo line-up and later in court. (R.p.241, lines 12-16; p.243, lines 2-6; p.243, lines 12-16; p.246, lines 1-3; p.246, line 19-p.247, line 10; p.247, line 20-p.248, line 9). Vonkeith's sister was at her mother's home on the day of the shooting and saw appellant, and knew Alonzo from California was a friend of her brother's, so she looked on his Instagram page for a picture and found one to give to investigators to help them identify appellant. (R.p.220, lines 7-9; p.220, line 22-p.221, line 17; p.222, lines 4-17; p.225, line 7-p.226, line 2; p.231, line 10-13; p.232, line 9-p.234, line 2).

Finally, appellant admitted he was in South Carolina at the time of the murder, but testified he was in the state to perform music shows. (R.p.422). Appellant's version of events to the jury was he was at Vonkeith's home to look at a car, but he did not know about any robbery plan and did not shoot anyone. (R.p.432; pp.440-42; pp.448-49). The jury ultimately did not believe appellant as it found him guilty of all indicted charges.

In light of the other evidence establishing appellant's presence at the scene and his involvement in the crime, it is clear the jury would have returned a guilty verdict even if the cell phone records had not been admitted at trial. Therefore, while respondent submits the trial court's ruling was not an abuse of discretion, any alleged error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

## II.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing a witness to testify as an expert in street culture and language where he did not allege appellant was a member of a gang or affiliated with anyone in a gang, the foundation information establishing the witness's expertise was not unduly prejudicial as it was accompanied by a limiting instruction explicitly informing the jury gang affiliation was not an issue at trial and appellant was not in a gang, and the expert's subsequent testimony helped the jury understand evidence presented at trial. Further, any error by the trial court was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The trial court properly allowed a State's witness to establish his expertise in street culture and language where his knowledge helped the jury understand particular words appellant used in text communications. The witness's testimony regarding his experience obtained during years as a gang investigator was not unduly prejudicial where neither the expert nor the State ever alleged appellant was a member of a gang or was affiliated with anyone in a gang. Further, the trial court gave limiting instructions to the jury prior to and after the expert's testimony explaining to the jury gang affiliation was not an issue at trial and could not be considered during deliberations, and specifically stating appellant was not alleged to be involved in a gang. Any possible prejudice was cured by the instructions, which defense counsel did not object to either time they were given.

### How the Issue Was Raised

Prior to *voir dire* of the State's expert on street culture and language, the solicitor indicated that while much of the witness's experience came from working with gangs, the State was not making any claims appellant was affiliated with gangs or that the crime was gang-related, but instead it was utilizing the expert to help the jury understand some of the words used in text messages. (R.p.381, lines 9-25; p.382, lines 16-20). Defense counsel objected, arguing the word "gang" itself was prejudicial, as was "street culture," and the State could avoid

prejudice by using the word "slang." (R.p.382, lines 4-14). The trial court found the witness would have to use the word "gang" to lay the foundation for his expertise, but the court would give the jury a limiting instruction to explain any reference to "gangs" should not be associated with appellant, was not at issue in the trial, and could not be discussed by the jury. (R.p.382, line 21-p.383, line 15).

Brian Zwolak (Zwolak) testified he was a gang instructor at the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy. (R.p.386, line 22-p.387, line 4). He previously worked with the gang unit at the Columbia Police Department and the Midlands Gang Task Force. (R.p.387, line 9-p.388, line 19). Zwolak also went through his training in street culture and language, and was offered as an expert, subject to a renewed objection by defense counsel. (R.p.388, line 20-p.391, line 22). Prior to qualifying Zwolak as an expert, the court told the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury panel, again normally a person cannot give opinion testimony. Normally when a person testifies they must testify as to what they saw, heard, sensed by smell or something of that nature. However, there is an exception when someone is qualified because of education, experience, or training, they are permitted to give their opinions in certain areas if the court qualifies them that way.

This witness will be qualified in the area of street culture and language to give opinion testimony in that area. That does not mean that you must accept the opinion, but it is evidence for you, the jury, to use in any way you deem appropriate.

Additionally, ladies and gentlemen, I'm going to give you what is known as the limit[ing] instruction concerning this testimony: As you heard, the officer's background and history and training, you hear the word gang many, many, many times and, of course, that word can be a buzz word in and of itself. There is no association, no association whatsoever between this defendant, Mr. Butler and membership in or association with any gang whatsoever. The – the issue about whether or not Mr. Butler is a member of, or associated with any member of a gang is not relevant to the trial of this case, and that particular issue is not an issue.

And that area of gangs should not even be discussed, Mr. Foreman, by you or any of the ladies and gentlemen in the jury room at the time of your deliberations.

I'm allowing this evidence solely for the purposes of interpreting street culture and language and as you all know, being American Citizens of Lexington, South Carolina, people are tried based on evidence, not whatever their status may be. They're not tried because of a label whatsoever. Even if they were, Mr. Butler does not have that label whatsoever.

So it's street culture and language and you give it the weight and the value, whichever you deem appropriate, during your deliberations and your determinations of the facts and in this case and no other purpose whatsoever.

(R.p.391, line 23-p.393, line 12).

The trial continued without any objection to the sufficiency of the limiting instruction.

Zwolak then testified he reviewed some text messages sent to and from the area code "404" cell phone in the days before the murder. (R.p.393, line 18-p.394, line 6). Zwolak stated an incoming text to the number on April 23, 2014 asked, "Who's this?" and the response was "Jonah," which was appellant's nickname, and appellant confirmed the "404" number was his. (R.p.108, lines 9-13; p.395, line 24-p.396, line 7; p.396, line 22-p.397, line 5). Then, appellant texted with his co-defendant and firmed up their travel plans, before appellant told his co-defendant, "I got hammy with me" which Zwolak explained meant appellant would take a gun with him from Alabama. (R.p.397, line 6-p.399, line 20). On April 24, 2014, two days before the shooting, a friend texted appellant and asked him, "Are you going to need a hamma to fix that or no?" which Zwolak testified was a second reference to a gun, and appellant responded, "Most likely." (R.p.403, lines 16-24; p.405, lines 5-8). Finally, there were text messages on April 25, 2014 from Vonkeith Toland to appellant with an address, setting up a time to look at the car. (R.p.405, lines 9-19).

Following cross-examination, the trial court gave the jury a second limiting instruction, reminding them:

Again, ladies and gentlemen, I'm going to revisit and reiterate my limit[ing] instructions to you. You give the testimony the weight and value you deem fit and appropriate. However, this has no association with Mr. Butler and gang activity, being a member of a gang or associated with any individual that is a member of a gang. He is solely an expert that's testified as to street culture and language and if you use it all, you use it solely for that purpose.

And I will tell you further and completely when I instruct you on the law at the end of the case, that you do not have to accept the opinion or the basis of an opinion of any expert, even though it may be uncontroverted. You and you alone are the sole judges of the facts. Thank you.

(R.p.409, lines 6-19).

Defense counsel did not object to the sufficiency of the limiting instruction.

#### Standard of Review

The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the discretion of the trial court, and the appellate courts will not interfere unless the rights of a defendant were prejudiced. *State v. Bridges*, 278 S.C. 447, 448, 298 S.E.2d 212, 212 (1982). Accordingly, this Court reviews errors of law only and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they were clearly erroneous. *Baccus*, 367 S.C. at 48, 625 S.E.2d at 220.

#### Analysis

##### *Foundation Testimony of Expert's Experience Was Not Unduly Prejudicial*

As a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. However, relevant evidence may be excluded if its prejudicial effect substantially outweighs its probative value. See Rule 403, SCRE ("Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice."). "Unfair prejudice means

an undue tendency to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis." *State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009).

Appellate courts review Rule 403 balancing determinations pursuant to an abuse discretion standard and give great deference to the trial court's decision. *State v. Myers*, 359 S.C. 40, 48, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004). A trial court's determination in regard to the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should only be reversed in rare circumstances. *State v. Stephens*, 398 S.C. 314, 319, 728 S.E.2d 68, 71 (Ct. App. 2012).

Here, the background information establishing the expert's foundational knowledge of street culture and language was not unduly prejudicial. While the witness's experience was obtained during years as a gang investigator and courses about gangs, neither the State nor its expert ever alleged during trial appellant was a member of a gang or affiliated with anyone in a gang. The foundation information provided during *voir dire* was not itself evidence, but simply established the expert's qualifications. The expert's testimony during direct examination was limited to helping the jury understand particular words appellant used in text messages to his co-defendant and a friend and was not unfairly prejudicial under either case law or Rule 403. *See* Rule 403 (providing relevant evidence may be excluded if its prejudicial effect substantially outweighs its probative value); *Wiles*, 383 S.C. at 158, 679 S.E.2d at 176 (explaining unfair prejudice meant a tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis). Further, the trial court gave lengthy and specific limiting instructions to the jury prior to and after the expert's testimony explaining to the jury gang affiliation was not an issue at trial and could not be considered by jurors during deliberations, and explicitly stating appellant was not alleged to be involved in a gang. Any possible prejudice was cured by the instructions, which defense counsel did not object to at the time they were given. *See Myers*, 359 S.C. at 48, 596 S.E.2d at 492 (holding

appellate courts give great deference to a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 balancing determinations).

The State's expert provided context to the jury. His testimony helped jurors understand that when appellant used the word "hammy" or "hamma" in two texts, in the expert's opinion and experience, it meant he was bringing a gun with him from Alabama. (R.pp.397-99; p.403; p.405). When appellant testified, he claimed the term referred to a drug combination of cough syrup, marijuana, and a pain pill. (R.p.424, lines 2-11).

The expert never asserted appellant was affiliated with any gang, and the trial court was careful to give two thorough limiting instructions to the jury. Therefore, the testimony during *voir dire* was not unfairly prejudicial, and court did not err in allowing the witness to testify as an expert in street culture and language to help the jury better understand the evidence.

#### Harmless Error

Even if the Court were to find an abuse of discretion, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. As previously noted, the State presented a strong case against appellant. The jury heard evidence from Vonkeith Toland (Vonkeith), who knew appellant from multiple previous meetings, about appellant texting and calling him to set up a time to meet to look at a car. (R.pp.107-08; pp.117-18). Vonkeith also testified about seeing his brother's murder, being shot himself, and both appellant and his co-defendant threatening him with guns. (R.pp.120-31). Finally, investigators testified about connecting appellant to the crime, and the efforts by the suspects to cover-up their involvement by using burner phones and taking surveillance camera recording equipment when they left Vonkeith's home. (R.pp.33-34; pp.65-68; pp.72-77; p.80; p.198; p.166; p.182). The preliminary information from the State's expert during *voir dire* establishing his qualifications could not have reasonably impacted the jury's verdict. *See Mizzell,*

349 S.C. at 333, 563 S.E.2d at 318-19 (listing the factors of a harmless error analysis, including the importance of the witness's testimony, the extent of cross-examination, and the overall strength of the State's case).

Therefore, while respondent submits the trial court's ruling was not error, any alleged error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.